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Where You Can Find More Information

Investors and others should note that we may announce material business and financial information to our investors using our investor
relations website (https://investors.tenable.com), our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), our website, webcasts,
press releases, and conference calls. We use these mediums, including our website, to communicate with investors and the general public
about our company, our products, and other issues, and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. It is possible that
the information that we make available on our website may be deemed to be material information. We therefore encourage investors and
others interested in our company to review the information that we make available on our website, in addition to following our SEC filings, our
webcasts, press releases, and conference calls. The information we post through these channels is not a part of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. These channels be may updated from time to time on our investor relations website.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.        Financial Statements
TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in thousands, except per share data) (unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 312,207  $ 237,132 
Short-term investments 236,242  236,840 
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $971 and $470 at September 30,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively) 192,648  220,060 
Deferred commissions 49,858  49,559 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 52,575  61,882 

Total current assets 843,530  805,473 
Property and equipment, net 39,780  45,436 
Deferred commissions (net of current portion) 64,405  72,394 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 32,127  34,835 
Acquired intangible assets, net 99,474  107,017 
Goodwill 541,292  518,539 
Other assets 13,811  23,177 
Total assets $ 1,634,419  $ 1,606,871 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 17,833  $ 16,941 
Accrued compensation 43,040  66,492 
Deferred revenue 583,940  580,779 
Operating lease liabilities 6,099  5,971 
Other current liabilities 6,205  5,655 

Total current liabilities 657,117  675,838 
Deferred revenue (net of current portion) 163,512  169,718 
Term loan, net of issuance costs (net of current portion) 357,334  359,281 
Operating lease liabilities (net of current portion) 43,706  48,058 
Other liabilities 8,195  7,632 
Total liabilities 1,229,864  1,260,527 

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock (par value: $0.01; 500,000 shares authorized; 121,344 and 117,504 shares
issued at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively) 1,213  1,175 
Additional paid-in capital 1,330,517  1,185,100 
Treasury stock (at cost: 1,471 and 356 shares at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively) (64,925) (14,934)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 954  38 
Accumulated deficit (863,204) (825,035)

Total stockholders’ equity 404,555  346,344 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,634,419  $ 1,606,871 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 664,290  $ 585,404 
Cost of revenue 50,499  45,754  148,229  134,774 
Gross profit 176,589  155,775  516,061  450,630 
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 99,083  94,759  300,037  289,750 
Research and development 48,020  37,052  136,896  113,080 
General and administrative 31,569  31,877  92,889  85,614 
Restructuring —  —  6,070  — 

Total operating expenses 178,672  163,688  535,892  488,444 
Loss from operations (2,083) (7,913) (19,831) (37,814)

Interest income 5,989  7,662  17,587  19,323 
Interest expense (8,148) (8,119) (24,333) (23,208)
Other income (expense), net 359  (6,502) (858) (7,993)

Loss before income taxes (3,883) (14,872) (27,435) (49,692)
Provision for income taxes 5,328  693  10,734  6,944 
Net loss $ (9,211) $ (15,565) $ (38,169) $ (56,636)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.08) $ (0.13) $ (0.32) $ (0.49)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share,
basic and diluted 119,169  115,954  118,466  114,967 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net loss $ (9,211) $ (15,565) $ (38,169) $ (56,636)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net 1,225  161  916  811 
Other comprehensive income 1,225  161  916  811 
Comprehensive loss $ (7,986) $ (15,404) $ (37,253) $ (55,825)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

Additional
Paid-in


Capital

Accumulated
Other


Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

Total
Stockholders’


Equity
Common Stock Treasury

Stock
Accumulated

Deficit(in thousands) Shares Amount
Balance at June 30, 2024 120,461  $ 1,205  $ 1,281,545  $ (64,925) $ (271) $ (853,993) $ 363,561 
Exercise of stock options 109  1  662  —  —  —  663 
Vesting of restricted stock units 561  5  (5) —  —  —  — 
Vesting of performance stock units 19  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 194  2  6,382  —  —  —  6,384 
Stock-based compensation —  —  41,933  —  —  —  41,933 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  1,225  —  1,225 
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  (9,211) (9,211)

Balance at September 30, 2024 121,344  $ 1,213  $ 1,330,517  $ (64,925) $ 954  $ (863,204) $ 404,555 

Balance at December 31, 2023 117,504  $ 1,175  $ 1,185,100  $ (14,934) $ 38  $ (825,035) $ 346,344 
Exercise of stock options 756  7  4,791  —  —  —  4,798 
Vesting of restricted stock units 2,497  25  (25) —  —  —  — 
Vesting of performance stock units 88  1  (1) —  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 499  5  16,257  —  —  —  16,262 
Purchase of treasury stock —  —  —  (49,991) —  —  (49,991)
Fair value of replacement equity
attributable to pre-acquisition service —  —  42  —  —  —  42 
Stock-based compensation —  —  124,353  —  —  —  124,353 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  916  —  916 
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  (38,169) (38,169)

Balance at September 30, 2024 121,344  $ 1,213  $ 1,330,517  $ (64,925) $ 954  $ (863,204) $ 404,555 

Balance at June 30, 2023 115,529  $ 1,156  $ 1,101,928  $ —  $ (701) $ (787,822) $ 314,561 
Exercise of stock options 123  1  883  —  —  —  884 
Vesting of restricted stock units 611  6  (6) —  —  —  — 
Vesting of performance stock units 13  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 194  2  6,308  —  —  —  6,310 
Stock-based compensation —  —  37,322  —  —  —  37,322 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  161  —  161 
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  (15,565) (15,565)

Balance at September 30, 2023 116,470  $ 1,165  $ 1,146,435  $ —  $ (540) $ (803,387) $ 343,673 

Balance at December 31, 2022 113,056  $ 1,131  $ 1,017,837  $ —  $ (1,351) $ (746,751) $ 270,866 
Exercise of stock options 289  3  2,418  —  —  —  2,421 
Vesting of restricted stock units 2,541  25  (25) —  —  —  — 
Vesting of performance stock units 78  1  (1) —  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 506  5  16,219  —  —  —  16,224 
Stock-based compensation —  —  109,987  —  —  —  109,987 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  811  —  811 
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  (56,636) (56,636)

Balance at September 30, 2023 116,470  $ 1,165  $ 1,146,435  $ —  $ (540) $ (803,387) $ 343,673 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (38,169) $ (56,636)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 24,434  18,900 
Stock-based compensation 122,801  108,812 
Net accretion of discounts and amortization of premiums on short-term investments (6,141) (5,903)
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,003  941 
(Gain) loss on other investments (1,452) 5,000 
Restructuring 4,528  — 
Other 4,128  1,800 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 26,911  9,084 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 29,868  17,524 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and accrued compensation (22,921) 447 
Deferred revenue (3,153) 16,856 
Other current and noncurrent liabilities (5,480) (5,475)

Net cash provided by operating activities 136,357  111,350 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (1,924) (1,299)
Capitalized software development costs (5,930) (4,707)
Purchases of short-term investments (227,210) (217,239)
Sales and maturities of short-term investments 234,865  242,864 
Proceeds from other investments 3,512  — 
Purchases of other investments (1,250) — 
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (29,162) — 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (27,099) 19,619 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on term loan (2,813) (2,813)
Proceeds from loan agreement —  424 
Proceeds from stock issued in connection with the employee stock purchase plan 16,262  16,224 
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 4,798  2,421 
Purchase of treasury stock (49,991) — 
Other financing activities —  (213)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (31,744) 16,043 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,439) (2,562)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 75,075  144,450 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 237,132  300,866 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 312,207  $ 445,316 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 23,505  $ 26,786 
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds 10,073  6,166 
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases:
Cash payments for operating leases $ 7,409  $ 6,797 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business Description

Tenable Holdings, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” "us," or “our”) is a provider of exposure management solutions. Exposure management is
an effective discipline for measuring, comparing and reducing cybersecurity risk in today's complex IT environments. Our solutions provide
broad visibility into security issues such as vulnerabilities, misconfigurations, internal and regulatory compliance violations and other
indicators of the state of an organization’s security across IT infrastructure and applications, cloud environments, Active Directory and
industrial internet of things and operational technology environments.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tenable Holdings, Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries
and have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated statements are unaudited and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes included in our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K ("10-K") filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2024.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited annual consolidated financial statements
included in the 10-K and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary to fairly state our
financial position, our results of operations, and cash flows.

The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results expected for
the year ending December 31, 2024 or any other future period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates include, but are not
limited to, the determination of the estimated economic life of perpetual licenses for revenue recognition, the estimated period of benefit for
deferred commissions, the useful lives of long-lived assets, the fair value of acquired intangible assets, the valuation of stock-based
compensation, the incremental borrowing rate for operating leases, and the valuation of deferred tax assets and investments. We base these
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Actual results could differ significantly
from these estimates.

Significant Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are described in our 10-K. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, there were no material
changes to our significant accounting policies from those described in our 10-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires public entities with a single reportable segment to provide all the
disclosures required by this standard and all existing segment disclosures in Topic 280 on an interim and annual basis, including new
requirements to disclose significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") and
included within the reported measure(s) of a segment's profit or
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loss, the amount and composition of any other segment items, the title and position of the CODM, and how the CODM uses the reported
measure(s) of a segment's profit or loss to assess performance and decide how to allocate resources. The guidance is effective for our
annual period beginning January 1, 2025, and interim periods thereafter, applied retrospectively with early adoption permitted. We do not
expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 - Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires
public entities to provide greater disaggregation within their annual rate reconciliation, including new requirements to present reconciling
items on a gross basis in specified categories, disclose both percentages and dollar amounts, and disaggregate individual reconciling items
by jurisdiction and nature when the effect of the items meet a quantitative threshold. The guidance also requires disaggregating the annual
disclosure of income taxes paid, net of refunds received, by federal (national), state, and foreign taxes, with separate presentation of
individual jurisdictions that meet a quantitative threshold. The guidance is effective for our annual periods beginning January 1, 2025 on a
prospective basis, with a retrospective option, and early adoption is permitted. Adopting this guidance will result in additional annual tax
disclosures but will not impact our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities.

2. Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table presents a summary of revenue:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Subscription revenue $ 208,554  $ 183,268  $ 608,727  $ 531,133 
Perpetual license and maintenance revenue 11,769  12,200  35,941  36,535 
Professional services and other revenue 6,765  6,061  19,622  17,736 

Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 664,290  $ 585,404 

Concentrations

We sell and market our products and services through our field sales force that works closely with our channel partners, which includes a
network of distributors and resellers, in developing sales opportunities. We use a two-tiered channel model whereby we sell our products and
services to our distributors, which in turn sell to resellers, which then sell to end-users. Revenue derived through our channel network
comprised 94% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 93% of revenue in the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023. One of our distributors accounted for 33% and 34% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September
30, 2024, respectively, and 36% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023. That same distributor accounted for
32% of accounts receivable at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Contract Balances

We generally bill our customers in advance and accounts receivable are recorded when we have the right to invoice the customer.
Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and include customer billings and payments received in advance of performance under the
contract. In the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 and the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we
recognized revenue of $209.6 million, $185.9 million, $497.3 million and $430.8 million, respectively, that was included in the deferred
revenue balance at the beginning of the respective periods.

Remaining Performance Obligations

At September 30, 2024, the future estimated revenue related to unsatisfied performance obligations was $771.6 million, of which $592.4
million is expected to be recognized as revenue over the next twelve months, and the remainder is expected to be recognized over the four
years thereafter.
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Deferred Commissions

The following summarizes the activity of deferred incremental costs of obtaining a contract:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Beginning balance $ 115,529  $ 109,582  $ 121,953  $ 111,508 
Capitalization of contract acquisition costs 12,420  14,527  32,921  36,819 
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs (13,686) (12,565) (40,611) (36,783)

Ending balance $ 114,263  $ 111,544  $ 114,263  $ 111,544 

3. Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The following tables summarize the amortized cost, unrealized gain and loss and estimated fair value of cash equivalents and short-term
investments:


 September 30, 2024

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gain Unrealized Loss
Estimated Fair

Value
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 161,509  $ —  $ —  $ 161,509 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations 988  —  —  988 

Total cash equivalents $ 162,497  $ —  $ —  $ 162,497 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ 44,931  $ 20  $ —  $ 44,951 
Corporate bonds 86,461  477  —  86,938 
Asset backed securities 27,756  97  (1) 27,852 
Yankee bonds 12,049  41  (3) 12,087 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations 64,091  323  —  64,414 

Total short-term investments $ 235,288  $ 958  $ (4) $ 236,242 

December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gain Unrealized Loss
Estimated Fair

Value
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 130,375  $ —  $ —  $ 130,375 

Total cash equivalents $ 130,375  $ —  $ —  $ 130,375 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ 82,188  $ 50  $ (22) $ 82,216 
Corporate bonds 61,200  40  (91) 61,149 
Asset backed securities 15,032  26  (15) 15,043 
Yankee bonds 6,926  4  (17) 6,913 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations 71,456  97  (34) 71,519 

Total short-term investments $ 236,802  $ 217  $ (179) $ 236,840 
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We considered the extent to which any unrealized losses on our short-term investments were driven by credit risk and other factors,
including market risk, and if it is more-likely-than-not that we would have to sell the security before the recovery of the amortized cost basis.
At September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, our unrealized losses were due to rising market interest rates compared to when the
investments were initiated. We do not believe any unrealized losses represent credit losses, and it is unlikely we would sell the investments
before we would recover their amortized cost basis.

The contractual maturities of our short-term investments are as follows:
September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair

Value Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair

Value
Due within one year $ 184,356  $ 184,883  $ 219,437  $ 219,414 
Due between one and two years 50,932  51,359  17,365  17,426 

Total short-term investments $ 235,288  $ 236,242  $ 236,802  $ 236,840 

At September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents included $5.9 million and $5.8 million, respectively, of
restricted cash primarily related to collateral for our outstanding letters of credit.

4. Fair Value Measurements

We measure certain financial instruments at fair value using a fair value hierarchy. In the hierarchy, assets are classified based on the
lowest level inputs used in valuation into the following categories:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
• Level 2 — Observable inputs including quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for

identical assets and liabilities in inactive markets, or inputs that are corroborated by observable market data; and
• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs.

The following tables summarize assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

September 30, 2024
(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 161,509  $ —  $ —  $ 161,509 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations —  988  —  988 

Total cash equivalents $ 161,509  $ 988  $ —  $ 162,497 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ —  $ 44,951  $ —  $ 44,951 
Corporate bonds —  86,938  —  86,938 
Asset backed securities —  27,852  —  27,852 
Yankee bonds —  12,087  —  12,087 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations —  64,414  —  64,414 

Total short-term investments $ —  $ 236,242  $ —  $ 236,242 
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December 31, 2023
(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 130,375  $ —  $ —  $ 130,375 

Total cash equivalents $ 130,375  $ —  $ —  $ 130,375 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ —  $ 82,216  $ —  $ 82,216 
Corporate bonds —  61,149  —  61,149 
Asset backed securities —  15,043  —  15,043 
Yankee bonds —  6,913  —  6,913 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations —  71,519  —  71,519 

Total short-term investments $ —  $ 236,840  $ —  $ 236,840 

Other Investments

Our investments in privately held securities, which are included in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets and classified as
level 3, were as follows:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2024
December 31,

2023
Equity securities $ 6,702  $ — 
Debt and other securities 1,871  9,383 

Total other investments $ 8,573  $ 9,383 

In May 2024, we recognized a $1.5 million gain on the conversion of our simple agreement for future equity ("SAFE") investment to an
investment in preferred stock.

We did not have any liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2024
December 31,

2023
Computer software and equipment $ 20,131 $ 21,845
Internally developed software 39,250 32,261
Furniture and fixtures 5,191 6,513
Leasehold improvements 22,992 29,354

Total 87,564 89,973
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (47,784) (44,537)

Property and equipment, net $ 39,780 $ 45,436

Depreciation and amortization related to property and equipment was $3.6 million, $3.2 million, $10.0 million and $9.7 million in the three
months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 and the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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In the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we recorded a $4.5 million impairment for furniture and fixtures and leasehold
improvements. See Note 7 for additional information.

6. Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Business Combinations

In June 2024, we acquired Eureka Security, Inc. ("Eureka"), a provider of data security posture management ("DSPM") for cloud
environments. Adding Eureka's DSPM capabilities to our solutions provides customers a view into their organization's cloud data security
footprint, fight policy drift and misconfigurations that put data at risk, and enables customers to continuously improve their security posture
over time. We acquired 100% of Eureka's equity through a share purchase agreement for total cash consideration of $29.2 million, net of
$0.4 million cash acquired.

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired, was preliminarily allocated as follows:
(in thousands) Eureka
Intangible assets $ 6,900 
Goodwill 22,753 
Other current liabilities, net (449)

Total purchase price $ 29,204 

We allocated $6.9 million to Eureka's proprietary technology with an estimated useful life of 5 years.

We are still finalizing the allocation of the purchase price for Eureka, which may change as additional information becomes available
around working capital and income taxes.

The results of operations of Eureka are included in our consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date and were not
material. Pro forma results of operations are not presented as they are not material to the consolidated statement of operations.

In general and administrative expense, we recognized $0.4 million, $4.6 million, $1.3 million and $4.7 million of acquisition-related
transaction costs in the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 518,539
Acquired goodwill 22,753

Balance at September 30, 2024 $ 541,292

The excess purchase consideration over the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The acquired goodwill
reflects the synergies we expect from marketing and selling new capabilities from Eureka to our customers. Acquired goodwill is generally not
tax deductible.
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Acquired intangible assets subject to amortization are as follows:

September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in thousands)
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Acquired technology $ 149,437  $ (49,963) $ 99,474  $ 142,537  $ (35,520) $ 107,017 
Trade name 490  (490) —  490  (490) — 

$ 149,927  $ (50,453) $ 99,474  $ 143,027  $ (36,010) $ 107,017 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets was $5.0 million, $3.0 million, $14.4 million and $9.2 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. At September 30, 2024, our
acquired intangible assets are expected to be amortized over an estimated remaining weighted average period of 5.5 years.

At September 30, 2024, estimated future amortization of acquired intangible assets is as follows:
(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2024 $ 5,014 
2025 20,055 
2026 19,870 
2027 17,840 
2028 14,797 
Thereafter 21,898 

Total $ 99,474 
_______________

(1)    Represents the three months ending December 31, 2024.

7. Leases

We have operating leases for office facilities. The components of lease expense were as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Operating lease cost $ 1,906  $ 1,900  $ 5,691  $ 5,690 
_______________
(1)    Excludes sublease income.

Rent expense for short-term leases in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 was not material.

In June 2024, we executed a sublease for of a portion of our corporate headquarters through February 2032 and recognized $4.5 million
of restructuring expense related to the associated impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures. Sublease income, which
is recorded as a reduction of rent expense, was $0.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024.

Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:
September 30,

2024
December 31,

2023
Operating leases

Weighted average remaining lease term 6.7 years 7.3 years
Weighted average discount rate 5.7% 5.6%

(1)

(1)

14



Table of Contents

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations

Operating leases $ —  $ —  $ 806  $ 1,234 

Maturities of operating lease liabilities at September 30, 2024 were as follows:

(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2024 $ 1,472 
2025 9,831 
2026 9,157 
2027 8,667 
2028 7,777 
Thereafter 23,390 

Total lease payments 60,294 
Less: Imputed interest (10,489)

Total $ 49,805 
_______________

(1)    Represents the three months ending December 31, 2024.

Operating lease payments in the table above do not include $0.9 million, $1.7 million, $1.8 million, $1.9 million and $6.4 million of
sublease payments we expect to receive in 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028 and thereafter, respectively.

In October 2024, we entered into a new lease in Tel Aviv, Israel. The new lease term is 7 years and the future lease payments are
expected to be $19.4 million.

8. Debt

Credit Agreement

In July 2021, we entered into a credit agreement ("Credit Agreement") which is comprised of:
• a $375.0 million senior secured term loan facility ("Term Loan"); and
• a $50.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility ("Revolving Credit Facility").

The table below summarizes the carrying value of the Term Loan:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2024
Term loan $ 364,687 

Less: Unamortized debt discount and issuance costs (4,747)
Term loan, net of issuance costs 359,940 

Less: Term loan, net, current (2,606)
Term loan, net of issuance costs (net of current portion) $ 357,334 
_______________

(1)    Term loan, net current is included in other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 2.75% per annum over the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), subject to a 0.50%
floor, plus a credit spread adjustment depending on the interest period. The Term Loan is being amortized at 1% per annum in equal
quarterly installments until the final payment of $350.6 million on the July 7, 2028 maturity date.

(1)

(1)
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Our Term Loan is recorded at its carrying value. At September 30, 2024, the fair value of our Term Loan was approximately $364.2
million. In the fair value hierarchy, our Term Loan is classified as Level 2 as it is traded in less active markets.

The maturities of the Term Loan at September 30, 2024 were as follows:
(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2024 $ 937 
2025 3,750 
2026 3,750 
2027 3,750 
2028 352,500 

Total $ 364,687 
_______________

(1)    Represents the three months ending December 31, 2024.

We may be subject to mandatory Term Loan prepayments related to the excess cash flow provisions. These prepayments would only be
required if our first lien net leverage ratio (as defined in our Credit Agreement) exceeds 3.5 at the end of each year. At September 30, 2024,
our first lien net leverage ratio was 1.00.

At September 30, 2024, we had $0.2 million of standby letters of credit outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility related to one of
our operating leases. At September 30, 2024, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Agreement.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

In December 2023, we entered into a contract with Microsoft for cloud services from February 2024 through January 2027. Under the
terms of the contract we committed to spend €28.5 million. If we do not meet our commitment by the end of the term, we will be required to
pay the difference. As of September 30, 2024, we have spent €5.1 million of our commitment.

In July 2024, we entered into a new contract with Amazon Web Services, Inc. ("AWS") for cloud services, in which we committed to
spend $59.7 million, $77.6 million and $93.0 million in years one, two and three, respectively, for a total commitment of $230.3 million from
August 2024 to July 2027. As of September 30, 2024, we have spent $10.0 million of our first year commitment.

Letters of Credit

At September 30, 2024, we had $5.7 million of standby letters of credit related to our grant agreements with the State of Maryland and
our operating leases.

(1)
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10. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of operations was as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of revenue $ 3,216 $ 3,011 $ 9,486 $ 8,542
Sales and marketing 15,941 15,805 47,517 46,622
Research and development 12,435 9,242 35,395 27,871
General and administrative 10,092 8,777 30,403 25,777

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 41,684 $ 36,835 $ 122,801 $ 108,812

A summary of the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock at September 30, 2024 is presented
below:

Unrecognized Stock-
Based Compensation

Expense 

(in thousands)

Estimated Weighted
Average Period 


(in years)
Restricted stock units ("RSUs") $ 310,029  2.7
Performance stock units ("PSUs") 7,190 3.0
Restricted stock 8,557 1.5
2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("2018 ESPP") 13,345 1.0

Restricted Stock, RSUs and PSUs

A summary of our restricted stock, RSU and PSU activity is presented below:
Restricted Stock RSUs PSUs

(in thousands, except for per share data)
Number of

Shares

Weighted

Average


Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of
Shares

Weighted

Average


Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of
Shares

Weighted

Average


Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested balance at December 31, 2023 311 $ 45.67  7,343 $ 43.80  258 $ 43.90 
Granted —  —  3,949  46.10  170  47.20 
Performance adjustment —  —  —  —  (10) 43.24 
Vested (93) 45.67  (2,497) 43.07  (88) 43.87 
Forfeited —  —  (860) 45.02  (11) 43.95 
Unvested balance at September 30, 2024 218 45.67 7,935 45.03  319 45.68 

_______________

(1)    Represents adjustments due to the achievement of predefined financial performance targets.

In January 2024, under the evergreen provision in our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan we reserved an additional 5.9 million shares of our
common stock. At September 30, 2024, there were 26.0 million shares available for grant under the plan.

(1)
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Stock Options

A summary of our stock option activity is presented below:

(in thousands, except for exercise prices and years)
Number


of Shares

Weighted

Average


Exercise Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

(in years)
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 5,095 $ 8.95  3.5 $ 189,108

Exercised (756) 6.34  30,215
Forfeited/canceled — —  — 
Outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2024 4,339 9.40  2.9 135,020

2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In the nine months ended September 30, 2024, employees purchased 498,890 shares of our common stock at a weighted average price
of $32.60 per share, resulting in $16.3 million of cash proceeds. At September 30, 2024, there was $1.6 million of employee contributions to
the 2018 ESPP included in accrued compensation.

The fair value of the 2018 ESPP purchase rights was estimated on the offering or modification dates using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model and the following assumptions:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2024 2023

Expected term (in years) 0.5 — 2.0 0.5 — 2.0
Expected volatility 31.9% — 51.4% 46.9% — 58.1%
Risk-free interest rate 3.8% — 5.1% 4.8% — 5.4%
Expected dividend yield — —

Under the evergreen provision in our 2018 ESPP, in January 2024 we reserved an additional 1.8 million shares of our common stock. At
September 30, 2024, there were 10.0 million shares reserved for issuance under our 2018 ESPP.

11. Income Taxes

In the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the provision for income taxes included $5.6 million of income taxes in foreign
jurisdictions in which we conduct business, $2.6 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers and
$2.5 million of Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the provision for income taxes included $4.3 million of income taxes in foreign
jurisdictions in which we conduct business and $2.8 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers,
partially offset by $0.2 million of deferred tax benefits related to the acquisition of Alsid SAS.

18



Table of Contents

12. Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net loss $ (9,211) $ (15,565) $ (38,169) $ (56,636)

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share,
basic and diluted 119,169  115,954  118,466  114,967 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.08) $ (0.13) $ (0.32) $ (0.49)

The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the diluted per share calculations because they would have been
antidilutive:

September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023
RSUs 7,935  7,343 
Stock options 4,339  5,196 
Shares to be issued under the 2018 ESPP 44  128 
PSUs 149  130 
Restricted stock 218  — 

Total 12,685  12,797 

13. Geographic Information

We operate as one operating segment. Our Chief Executive Officer, who is our CODM, reviews financial information on a consolidated
basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.

Revenue by region, based on the address of the end user as specified in our subscription, license or service agreements, was as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
The Americas $ 141,583  $ 127,016  $ 412,820  $ 368,510 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 59,688  51,397  176,046  150,437 
Asia Pacific 25,817  23,116  75,424  66,457 

Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 664,290  $ 585,404 

Customers located in the United States accounted for 54% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 55%
of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023. No other country accounted for 10% or more of revenue in the periods
presented.
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Our property and equipment, net by geographic area is summarized as follows:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2024
December 31,

2023
United States $ 35,256  $ 39,497 
International 4,524  5,939 

Property and equipment, net $ 39,780  $ 45,436 
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Item 2.        Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with (1) our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or this Form 10-Q, and (2)
our consolidated financial statements, related notes and management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, or the 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 28, 2024. This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act.
These statements are often identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“may,” “plan,” “project,” “will,” “would” or the negative or plural of these words or similar expressions or variations. Such forward-looking
statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results and the timing of
certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified herein, and those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors,”
set forth in Part I, Item IA of the 10-K, in Part II, Item 1A of this Form 10-Q and in our other filings with the SEC. You should not rely upon
forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances
after the date of such statements.

Overview

We are a leading provider of exposure management solutions. Exposure management is an effective discipline for measuring, comparing
and reducing cybersecurity risk in today's complex IT environments.

Our Tenable One Exposure Management Platform, or Tenable One, unifies a variety of data sources into a single exposure view to help
organizations gain visibility, prioritize efforts and communicate cyber risks. Building on our existing products, Tenable One is designed to take
advantage of the integrations that already exist with our partners and form the foundation of an exposure management program, alongside
the other tools, such as endpoint detection and response and firewalls, and required business processes.

With Tenable One, organizations can translate technical data about assets, vulnerabilities and threats into clear business insights and
actionable intelligence for security executives and practitioners. The platform combines broad, industry-leading vulnerability coverage,
spanning IT assets, cloud resources, containers, web apps and identity systems. Tenable One builds on the speed and breadth of
vulnerability coverage from Tenable Research and adds aggregated exposure view analytics, guidance on mitigating attack pathways and a
centralized asset inventory.

Tenable One incorporates Tenable Vulnerability Management, Tenable Web App Scanning, Tenable Lumin, Tenable Cloud Security,
Tenable Identity Exposure, Tenable Attack Surface Management, Tenable Security Center and Tenable OT Security. All of these products are
also offered as standalone solutions, alongside Nessus.

Our platform offerings are primarily sold on a subscription basis with a one-year term. Our subscription terms are generally not longer
than three years. These offerings are typically prepaid in advance. To a lesser extent, we recognize revenue ratably for perpetual licenses
and the related ongoing maintenance.

We sell and market our products and services through our field sales force that works closely with our channel network of distributors,
resellers and managed security service providers (MSSPs), in developing sales opportunities. We typically use a two-tiered channel model
whereby we sell our enterprise platform offerings to our distributors, who in turn sell to our resellers, who then sell to end users, who we call
customers.
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Financial Highlights

Below are our key financial results:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 664,290  $ 585,404 
Loss from operations (2,083) (7,913) (19,831) (37,814)
Net loss (9,211) (15,565) (38,169) (56,636)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (0.08) (0.13) (0.32) (0.49)
Net cash provided by operating activities 54,607  42,411  136,357  111,350 
Purchases of property and equipment (733) (201) (1,924) (1,299)
Capitalized software development costs (1,163) (1,894) (5,930) (4,707)

Recurring revenue, which includes revenue from subscription arrangements for software (both recognized ratably over the subscription
term and upon delivery) and cloud-based solutions and maintenance associated with perpetual licenses, represented 96% of revenue in the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 95% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Key Operating and Financial Metrics

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we use and monitor
the following operating and financial metrics, which include non-GAAP financial measures, to understand and evaluate our core operating
and financial performance.

Calculated Current Billings

We use the non-GAAP measure of calculated current billings, which we believe is a key metric to measure our periodic performance.
Given that most of our customers pay in advance, we typically recognize a majority of the related revenue ratably over time. We use
calculated current billings to measure and monitor our ability to provide our business with the working capital generated by upfront payments
from our customers.

Calculated current billings consists of revenue recognized in a period plus the change in current deferred revenue in the corresponding
period. We believe that calculated current billings, which excludes deferred revenue for periods beyond twelve months in a customer’s
contractual term, more closely correlates with annual contract value. Variability in total billings, depending on the timing of large multi-year
contracts and the preference for annual billing versus multi-year upfront billing, may distort growth in one period over another.

Calculated current billings may vary from period-to-period for a number of reasons, and therefore has a number of limitations as a
quarter-to-quarter or year-over-year comparative measure. Calculated current billings in any one period may be impacted by the timing and
amount of new sales transactions, the timing and amount of renewal transactions, including early renewals, the mix of the amount of
subscriptions and perpetual licenses, and the timing of billing professional services, as well as the timing and amount of multi-year prepaid
contracts, all of which could favorably or unfavorably impact quarter-to-quarter and year-over-year comparisons. For example, an increasing
number of large sales transactions, for which the timing has and will continue to vary, may occur in quarters subsequent to or in advance of
those that we anticipate. Additionally, our calculation of calculated current billings may be different from other companies that report similar
financial measures. Because of these and other limitations, you should consider calculated current billings along with revenue and our other
GAAP financial results.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of revenue, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with
GAAP, to calculated current billings:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 664,290  $ 585,404 
Deferred revenue (current), end of period 583,940  518,372  583,940  518,372 
Deferred revenue (current), beginning of period (562,587) (495,199) (580,887) (502,115)

Calculated current billings $ 248,441  $ 224,702  $ 667,343  $ 601,661 
_______________

(1) Deferred revenue (current), beginning of period for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 includes $0.1 million related to acquired deferred
revenue.

Free Cash Flow

We use the non-GAAP measure of free cash flow, which we define as GAAP net cash flows from operating activities reduced by
purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software development costs. We believe free cash flow is an important liquidity
measure of the cash (if any) that is available, after purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software development costs, for
investment in our business and to make acquisitions. We believe that free cash flow is useful as a liquidity measure because it measures our
ability to generate cash.

Our use of free cash flow has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis
of our results under GAAP. First, free cash flow is not a substitute for net cash flows from operating activities. Second, other companies may
calculate free cash flow or similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance,
all of which could reduce the usefulness of free cash flow as a tool for comparison. Additionally, the utility of free cash flow is further limited
as it does not reflect our future contractual commitments and does not represent the total increase or decrease in our cash balance for a
given period. Because of these and other limitations, you should consider free cash flow along with net cash provided by operating activities
and our other GAAP financial measures.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities, the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated in accordance with GAAP, to free cash flow:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 54,607  $ 42,411  $ 136,357  $ 111,350 
Purchases of property and equipment (733) (201) (1,924) (1,299)
Capitalized software development costs (1,163) (1,894) (5,930) (4,707)

Free cash flow $ 52,711  $ 40,316  $ 128,503  $ 105,344 
_______________
(1)    Free cash flow for the periods presented was impacted by:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cash paid for interest and other financing costs $ (8,055) $ (7,843) $ (23,505) $ (26,786)
Employee stock purchase plan activity (3,653) (2,236) (6,283) (2,507)
Acquisition-related expenses (663) (571) (1,326) (830)
Restructuring (492) —  (5,911) — 

(1)

    

(1)
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Customer Metrics

We believe that our customer base provides a significant opportunity to expand sales of our enterprise platform offerings. We define an
enterprise platform customer as a customer that has licensed Tenable One, Tenable Vulnerability Management, Tenable Cloud Security,
Tenable Identity Exposure, Tenable OT Security or Tenable Security Center for an annual amount of $5,000 or greater. New enterprise
platform customers represent new customer logos during the periods presented and do not include customer conversions from Tenable
Nessus Expert to enterprise platforms. The following tables summarize key components of our customer base:

Three Months Ended September 30,
2024 2023 Change (%)

Number of new enterprise platform customers added in period 386 386 —%

September 30,
2024 2023 Change (%)

Number of customers with $100,000 and greater in annual contract value at end of
period 1,853 1,565 18%

Dollar-Based Net Expansion Rate

Our dollar-based net expansion rate reflects both our customer retention and ability to drive additional sales to our existing customers.
Our dollar-based net expansion rate has historically fluctuated and is expected to continue to fluctuate on a quarterly basis as a result of a
number of factors, including existing customers' satisfaction with our solutions, existing customer retention, the pricing of our solutions, the
availability of competing solutions and the pricing thereof, and the timing of customer renewals. In addition, our sales pipeline opportunities
vary from quarter to quarter between new customers and expansion from existing customers, and we do not prioritize one over the other to
maximize the dollar-based net expansion rate.

Our dollar-based net expansion rate is evaluated on a last twelve months, or LTM, basis, and is calculated as follows:

• Denominator: To calculate our dollar-based net expansion rate as of the end of a reporting period, we first determine the annual
recurring revenue, or ARR, from all active subscriptions (both revenue recognized ratably over the subscription term and upon
delivery) and maintenance from perpetual licenses as of the last day of the same reporting period in the prior year. This represents
recurring payments that we expect to receive in the next 12-month period from the cohort of customers that existed on the last day of
the same reporting period in the prior year.

• Numerator: We measure the ARR for that same cohort of customers representing all subscriptions and maintenance from perpetual
licenses based on customer orders as of the end of the reporting period.

We calculate dollar-based net expansion rate by dividing the numerator by the denominator.

The following table presents our dollar-based net expansion rate:
September 30,

2024 2023
Dollar-based net expansion rate 108 % 111 %

Non-GAAP Income from Operations and Non-GAAP Operating Margin

We use non-GAAP income from operations along with non-GAAP operating margin as key indicators of our financial performance. We
define these non-GAAP financial measures as their respective GAAP measures, excluding the effects of stock-based compensation,
acquisition-related expenses, restructuring expenses, costs related to the intra-entity asset transfers resulting from the internal restructuring
of legal entities and amortization of acquired intangible assets. Acquisition-related expenses include transaction and integration expenses, as
well as costs related to the intercompany
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transfer of acquired intellectual property. Restructuring expenses include non-ordinary course severance, employee related benefits and
other charges.

We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information about our core operating results over multiple periods.
There are a number of limitations related to the use of the non-GAAP financial measures as compared to GAAP loss from operations and
operating margin, including that non-GAAP income from operations and non-GAAP operating margin exclude stock-based compensation
expense, which has been, and will continue to be, a significant recurring expense in our business and an important part of our compensation
strategy.

The following table presents a reconciliation of loss from operations, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in
accordance with GAAP, to non-GAAP income from operations, and operating margin, the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated in accordance with GAAP, to non-GAAP operating margin:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Loss from operations $ (2,083) $ (7,913) $ (19,831) $ (37,814)
Stock-based compensation 41,684  36,835  122,801  108,812 
Acquisition-related expenses 360  4,598  1,284  4,728 
Restructuring —  —  6,070  — 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 5,014  3,055  14,443  9,208 

Non-GAAP income from operations $ 44,975  $ 36,575  $ 124,767  $ 84,934 

Operating margin (1)% (4)% (3)% (6)%
Non-GAAP operating margin 20 % 18 % 19 % 15 %

Non-GAAP Net Income and Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share

We use non-GAAP net income, which excludes stock-based compensation, acquisition-related expenses, restructuring expenses and
amortization of acquired intangible assets, as well as the related tax impacts, and the tax impact and related costs of intra-entity asset
transfers resulting from the internal restructuring of legal entities as well as deferred income tax benefits recognized in connection with
acquisitions, to calculate non-GAAP earnings per share. We believe that these non-GAAP measures provide important information because
they facilitate comparisons of our core operating results over multiple periods.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss and net loss per share, the most comparable financial measures calculated in
accordance with GAAP, to non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP earnings per share:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except for per share amounts) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net loss $ (9,211) $ (15,565) $ (38,169) $ (56,636)
Stock-based compensation 41,684  36,835  122,801  108,812 
Tax impact of stock-based compensation 1,528  (1,207) 1,626  1,046 
Acquisition-related expenses 360  4,598  1,284  4,728 
Restructuring —  —  6,070  — 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 5,014  3,055  14,443  9,208 
Tax impact of acquisitions (52) (48) (130) (161)

Non-GAAP net income $ 39,323  $ 27,668  $ 107,925  $ 66,997 

Net loss per share, diluted $ (0.08) $ (0.13) $ (0.32) $ (0.49)
Stock-based compensation 0.35  0.32  1.04  0.94 
Tax impact of stock-based compensation 0.01  (0.01) 0.01  0.01 
Acquisition-related expenses 0.01  0.04  0.01  0.04 
Restructuring —  —  0.05  — 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 0.04  0.02  0.12  0.08 
Tax impact of acquisitions —  —  —  — 
Adjustment to diluted earnings per share (0.01) (0.01) (0.03) (0.02)

Non-GAAP earnings per share, diluted $ 0.32  $ 0.23  $ 0.88  $ 0.56 

Weighted-average shares used to compute GAAP net loss per
share, diluted 119,169 115,954 118,466 114,967

Weighted-average shares used to compute non-GAAP earnings
per share, diluted 123,288 121,473 123,206 120,273

________________

(1)    The tax impact of stock-based compensation is based on the tax treatment for the applicable tax jurisdictions.
(2)    The tax impact of acquisition-related expenses and restructuring are not material.
(3)    The tax impact of the amortization of acquired intangible assets is included in the tax impact of acquisitions.
(4)    An adjustment to reconcile GAAP net loss per share, which excludes potentially dilutive shares, to non-GAAP earnings per share, which includes
potentially dilutive shares.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue from subscription arrangements for our software and cloud-based solutions, perpetual licenses, maintenance
associated with perpetual licenses and professional services. We begin to recognize revenue when control of our software or services is
transferred to the customer, which for sales made through our channel network is typically concurrent with the transfer to the end user.

Our subscription arrangements generally have annual or multi-year contractual terms to use our software or cloud-based solutions,
including ongoing software updates during the contractual period. For software subscriptions that are dependent on ongoing software
updates and the ability to identify the latest cybersecurity vulnerabilities, revenue is recognized ratably over the subscription term given the
critical utility provided by the ongoing updates that are released through the contract period. When the critical utility of our software does not
depend on ongoing updates, we recognize

(1)

(2)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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revenue attributable to the license at the time of delivery and the revenue attributable to the maintenance and support ratably over the
contract period.

Our perpetual licenses are generally sold with one or more years of maintenance, which includes ongoing software updates. Given the
critical utility provided by the ongoing software updates and updated ability to identify network vulnerabilities included in maintenance, we
combine the perpetual license and the maintenance into a single performance obligation. Perpetual license arrangements generally contain a
material right related to the customer’s ability to renew maintenance at a price that is less than the initial license fee. We apply a practical
alternative to allocating a portion of the transaction price to the material right performance obligation and estimate a hypothetical transaction
price which includes fees for expected maintenance renewals based on the estimated economic life of perpetual license contracts. We
allocate the transaction price between the cybersecurity subscription provided in the initial contract and the material right related to expected
contract renewals based on the hypothetical transaction price. We recognize the amount allocated to the combined license and maintenance
performance obligation over the initial contractual period, which is generally one year. We recognize the amount allocated to the material
right over the expected maintenance renewal period, which begins at the end of the initial contractual term and is generally four years. We
have estimated the five-year economic life of perpetual license contracts based on historical contract attrition, expected renewal periods, the
lifecycle of our technology and other factors. This estimate may change over time.

Professional services and other revenue is primarily comprised of advisory services and training related to the deployment and
optimization of our products. These services do not result in significant customization of our products. Professional services and other
revenue is recognized as the services are performed.

We have historically experienced, and expect in the future to experience, seasonality in entering into agreements with customers. We
typically enter into a significantly higher percentage of agreements with new customers, as well as renewal agreements with existing
customers, in the third and fourth quarters of the year. The increase in customer agreements in the third quarter is primarily attributable to
U.S. government and related agencies, and the increase in the fourth quarter is primarily attributable to large enterprise account buying
patterns typical in the software industry. The ratable nature of our subscription revenue makes this seasonality less apparent in our overall
financial results. We expect longer purchasing and approval phases of our sales cycle to continue throughout 2024.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue includes personnel costs related to our technical support group that provides assistance to customers, including
salaries, benefits, bonuses, payroll taxes, stock-based compensation and any ordinary course severance. Cost of revenue also includes
cloud infrastructure costs, the costs related to professional services and training, depreciation, amortization of acquired and developed
technology, hardware costs and allocated overhead costs, which consist of information technology, facilities and insurance.

We intend to continue to invest additional resources in our cloud-based platform and customer support team as we grow our business.
The level and timing of investment in these areas could affect our cost of revenue in the future.

Gross profit, or revenue less cost of revenue, and gross margin, or gross profit as a percentage of revenue, have been and will continue
to be affected by various factors, including the timing of our acquisition of new customers and our renewals of and follow-on sales to existing
customers, the costs associated with operating our cloud-based platform, the extent to which we expand our customer support team and the
extent to which we can increase the efficiency of our technology and infrastructure through technological improvements.

We expect our gross profit to increase in absolute dollars but our gross margin may fluctuate from period to period depending on the
interplay of all of these factors, particularly as it relates to cloud infrastructure costs, as we expect revenue from our cloud-based
subscriptions to increase as a percentage of revenue.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development, general and administrative and restructuring
expenses. Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of
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salaries, benefits, bonuses, payroll taxes, stock-based compensation and ordinary course severance. Operating expenses also include
depreciation and amortization as well as allocated overhead costs, including IT and facilities costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense consists of personnel costs, sales commissions, marketing programs, travel and entertainment, expenses
for conferences, meetings and events and allocated overhead costs. We capitalize sales commissions, including related fringe benefit costs,
and recognize the expense over an estimated period of benefit, which ranges between three and four years for subscription arrangements
and five years for perpetual license arrangements. Sales commissions on contract renewals are capitalized and amortized ratably over the
contract term, with the exception of contracts with renewal periods that are one year or less, in which case the incremental costs are
expensed as incurred. Sales commissions on professional services arrangements are expensed as incurred as the contractual periods of
these arrangements are generally less than one year.

We intend to continue to make investments in our sales and marketing teams to increase revenue, further penetrate the market and
expand our global customer base. We expect our sales and marketing expense to increase in absolute dollars annually and to be our largest
operating expense category for the foreseeable future. However, as our revenue increases, we expect our sales and marketing expense to
decrease as a percentage of our revenue over the long term. Our sales and marketing expense may fluctuate from period to period due to
the timing and extent of these expenses, including sales commissions, which may fluctuate depending on the mix of sales and related
expense recognition.

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists of personnel costs, software used to develop our products, travel and entertainment,
consulting and professional fees for third-party development resources as well as allocated overhead. Our research and development
expense supports our efforts to continue to add capabilities to our existing products and enable the continued detection of new network
vulnerabilities.

We expect our research and development expense to continue to increase annually in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future as we
continue to invest in research and development efforts to enhance the functionality of our cloud-based platform. However, we expect our
research and development expense to decrease as a percentage of our revenue over the long term, although our research and development
expense may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and extent of these expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense consists of personnel costs for our executive, finance, legal, human resources and administrative
departments. Additional expenses include travel and entertainment, professional fees, insurance, allocated overhead and acquisition-related
expenses.

We expect our general and administrative expense to continue to increase in absolute dollars and decrease as a percentage of our
revenue over the long term, although our general and administrative expense may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and
extent of these expenses.

Restructuring

Restructuring expenses consist of non-ordinary course severance, employee related benefits and other charges to reorganize business
operations.

Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income consists of income earned on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. Interest expense consists primarily
of interest expense in connection with our Term Loan, unused commitment fees on our Revolving Credit Facility, and letter of credit fees.
Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency
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remeasurement and transaction gains and losses and any realized and unrealized gains and losses, including impairment losses and gains
related to our non-marketable investments.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists of income taxes in all foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business and the related withholding
taxes on sales with customers. We have recorded deferred tax assets for which a full valuation allowance has been provided, including net
operating loss carryforwards and tax credits. We expect to maintain this full valuation allowance for the foreseeable future as it is more likely
than not that some or all of those deferred tax assets may not be realized based on our history of losses.

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 664,290  $ 585,404 
Cost of revenue 50,499  45,754  148,229  134,774 
Gross profit 176,589  155,775  516,061  450,630 
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 99,083  94,759  300,037  289,750 
Research and development 48,020  37,052  136,896  113,080 
General and administrative 31,569  31,877  92,889  85,614 
Restructuring —  —  6,070  — 

Total operating expenses 178,672  163,688  535,892  488,444 
Loss from operations (2,083) (7,913) (19,831) (37,814)

Interest income 5,989  7,662  17,587  19,323 
Interest expense (8,148) (8,119) (24,333) (23,208)
Other income (expense), net 359  (6,502) (858) (7,993)

Loss before income taxes (3,883) (14,872) (27,435) (49,692)
Provision for income taxes 5,328  693  10,734  6,944 
Net loss $ (9,211) $ (15,565) $ (38,169) $ (56,636)
_______________

(1)    Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of revenue $ 3,216 $ 3,011 $ 9,486 $ 8,542
Sales and marketing 15,941 15,805 47,517 46,622
Research and development 12,435 9,242 35,395 27,871
General and administrative 10,092 8,777 30,403 25,777

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 41,684 $ 36,835 $ 122,801 $ 108,812

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

The following table presents the increase in revenue:

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Subscription revenue $ 208,554  $ 183,268  $ 25,286  14 %
Perpetual license and maintenance revenue 11,769  12,200  (431) (4)%
Professional services and other revenue 6,765  6,061  704  12 %
Revenue $ 227,088  $ 201,529  $ 25,559  13 %

The increase in revenue of $25.6 million included $25.5 million from existing customers at October 1, 2023, and an increase from new
customers of $0.1 million. U.S. revenue increased $11.2 million, or 10%. International revenue increased $14.4 million, or 16%.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Cost of revenue $ 50,499  $ 45,754  $ 4,745  10 %
Gross profit 176,589  155,775  20,814  13 %
Gross margin 78 % 77 %

The increase in cost of revenue of $4.7 million was primarily due to:

• a $2.0 million increase in amortization of acquired intangibles;
• a $0.9 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs;
• a $0.7 million increase in professional fees;
• a $0.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense;
• a $0.3 million increase in subscription costs; and
• a $0.2 million increase in allocated overhead.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Sales and marketing $ 99,083  $ 94,759  $ 4,324  5 %

The increase in sales and marketing expense of $4.3 million was primarily due to:

• a $1.6 million increase in expenses for demand generation programs, including advertising, sponsorships and brand awareness
efforts;

• a $1.5 million increase in sales commissions;
• a $1.1 million increase in personnel costs; and
• a $0.6 million increase in allocated overhead; partially offset by
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• a $0.3 million decrease in selling expenses.

Research and Development

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Research and development $ 48,020  $ 37,052  $ 10,968  30 %

The increase in research and development expense of $11.0 million was primarily due to:

• a $9.3 million increase in personnel costs, largely associated with an increase in headcount and a $3.2 million increase in stock-
based compensation;

• a $0.8 million increase in allocated overhead;
• a $0.3 million increase in software subscription costs; and
• a $0.2 million increase in travel and meeting costs.

General and Administrative

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
General and administrative $ 31,569  $ 31,877  $ (308) (1)%

The decrease in general and administrative expense of $0.3 million was primarily due to:

• a $4.2 million decrease in acquisition-related expenses; and
• a $1.2 million decrease in allocated overhead; partially offset by
• a $2.6 million increase in professional fees; and
• a $2.1 million increase in personnel costs, including a $1.3 million increase in stock-based compensation.

Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), Net

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Interest income $ 5,989  $ 7,662  $ (1,673) (22)%
Interest expense (8,148) (8,119) (29) — %
Other income (expense), net 359  (6,502) 6,861  (106)%

The $1.7 million decrease in interest income was due to a decrease in short-term investments and lower interest rates in the three
months ended September 30, 2024. Interest expense was flat quarter-over-quarter. The $6.9 million increase in other income (expense), net
was primarily due to a $5.0 million impairment loss on one of our SAFE investments in the prior year and a $1.8 million increase in gains due
to foreign exchange rates.

Provision for Income Taxes

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Provision for income taxes $ 5,328  $ 693  $ 4,635  669 %
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In the three months ended September 30, 2024, the provision for income taxes included:
• $3.5 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business;
• $1.0 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; and
• $0.8 million related to Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023, the provision for income taxes included:
• $0.6 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; and
• $0.1 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

The following table presents the increase in revenue:
Nine Months Ended September 30, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Subscription revenue $ 608,727  $ 531,133  $ 77,594  15 %
Perpetual license and maintenance revenue 35,941  36,535  (594) (2)%
Professional services and other revenue 19,622  17,736  1,886  11 %

Revenue $ 664,290  $ 585,404  $ 78,886  13 %

The increase in revenue of $78.9 million included $76.7 million from existing customers at October 1, 2023, and an increase from new
customers of $2.2 million. U.S. revenue increased $34.6 million, or 11%. International revenue increased $44.3 million, or 17%.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Cost of revenue $ 148,229  $ 134,774  $ 13,455  10 %
Gross profit 516,061  450,630  65,431  15 %
Gross margin 78 % 77 %

The increase in cost of revenue of $13.5 million was primarily due to:

• a $5.2 million increase in amortization of intangible assets due to acquired intangible assets;
• a $4.0 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs;
• a $1.9 million increase in professional fees;
• a $0.9 million increase in personnel costs, primarily in stock-based compensation;
• a $0.6 million increase in allocated overhead;
• a $0.4 million increase in subscription costs; and
• a $0.4 million increase in depreciation expense.
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Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Sales and marketing $ 300,037  $ 289,750  $ 10,287  4 %

The increase in sales and marketing expense of $10.3 million was primarily due to:

• a $5.6 million increase in expenses for demand generation programs, including advertising, sponsorships and brand awareness
efforts;

• a $3.4 million increase in sales commissions;
• a $2.6 million increase in allocated overhead; and
• a $0.7 million increase in selling expenses; partially offset by
• a $1.8 million decrease in personnel costs, largely associated with a decrease in headcount.

Research and Development

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Research and development $ 136,896  $ 113,080  $ 23,816  21 %

The increase in research and development expense of $23.8 million was primarily due to:

• a $16.8 million increase in personnel costs, including a $7.5 million increase in stock-based compensation;
• a $2.3 million increase in allocated overhead;
• a $1.7 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs;
• a $0.6 million increase in travel and meeting costs;
• a $0.6 million decrease in tax credits; and
• a $0.6 million increase in software subscription costs.

General and Administrative

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
General and administrative $ 92,889  $ 85,614  $ 7,275  8 %

The increase in general and administrative expense of $7.3 million was primarily due to:
• a $7.7 million increase in personnel costs, including a $4.6 million increase in stock-based compensation;
• a $4.1 million increase in professional fees;
• a $0.8 million increase in software subscription costs; and
• a $0.6 million increase in travel and meeting costs; partially offset by
• a $3.5 million decrease in acquisition-related expenses; and
• a $2.2 million decrease in allocated overhead.
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Restructuring

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Restructuring $ 6,070  $ —  $ 6,070  100 %

Restructuring includes a $4.5 million non-cash impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures that was recorded in
connection with the sublease of a portion of our headquarters and $1.6 million in non-ordinary course severance and employee related
benefits.

Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Expense, Net

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Interest income $ 17,587  $ 19,323  $ (1,736) (9)%
Interest expense (24,333) (23,208) (1,125) 5 %
Other expense, net (858) (7,993) 7,135  (89)%

The $1.7 million decrease in interest income was due to a decrease in short-term investments. Interest expense increased $1.1 million
due to an increase in the interest rate on our Term Loan. Other expense, net decreased $7.1 million primarily due to a $5.0 million
impairment loss on one of our SAFE investments in the prior year, a $1.5 million gain on conversion of our SAFE investment in the current
year and a $0.6 million decrease in foreign exchange losses.

Provision for Income Taxes

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 ($) (%)
Provision for income taxes $ 10,734  $ 6,944  $ 3,790  55 %

In the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the provision for income taxes included:
• $5.6 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business;
• $2.6 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; and
• $2.5 million related to Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the provision for income taxes included:
• $4.3 million income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business; and
• $2.8 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; partially offset by
• $0.2 million of deferred tax benefits related to our acquisition of Alsid SAS.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 30, 2024, we had $312.2 million of cash and cash equivalents, which consisted of bank deposits, money market funds and
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations, and $236.2 million of short-term investments, which consisted of commercial paper, asset backed
securities, U.S. Treasury and agency obligations and corporate and Yankee bonds.

Since our inception, we have primarily financed our operations through cash provided by operations, including payments received from
customers using our software products and services. Prior to our IPO, we did not raise any primary institutional capital, and the proceeds of
our Series A and Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock
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financings were used to repurchase shares of capital stock from former stockholders. We have generated significant operating losses as
reflected by our accumulated deficit of $863.2 million at September 30, 2024.

We typically invoice our customers annually in advance and, to a lesser extent, multi-years in advance. Therefore, a substantial source of
our cash is from such prepayments, which are included in deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheets. Deferred revenue consists
primarily of the unearned portion of billed fees for our subscriptions and perpetual licenses, which is subsequently recognized as revenue in
accordance with our revenue recognition policy. At September 30, 2024, we had deferred revenue of $747.5 million, of which $583.9 million
was recorded as a current liability and is expected to be recognized as revenue in the next 12 months, provided all other revenue recognition
criteria are met.

Our principal uses of cash in recent periods have been funding our operations, expansion of our sales and marketing and research and
development activities, investments in infrastructure, acquiring complementary businesses and technology, and repurchasing shares of our
common stock. In June 2024, we acquired Eureka Security, Inc., or Eureka, for approximately $29 million in cash. We may in the future enter
into arrangements to acquire or invest in other complementary businesses, services and technologies, including intellectual property rights.

We expect to continue incurring operating losses in the near term. Even though we generated positive cash flows from operations and
free cash flow in the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we may not be able to sustain these cash flows. We believe that our existing
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to fund our operating and capital needs for at least the next 12
months and for the foreseeable future. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate,
subscription renewal activity, the timing and extent of spending to support further infrastructure and research and development efforts, the
timing and extent of additional capital expenditures to invest in new and existing office spaces, the expansion of sales and marketing and
international operating activities, any acquisitions of complementary businesses and technologies, the timing of our introduction of new
product capabilities and enhancements of our platform and the continuing market acceptance of our platform. It may be necessary to seek
additional equity or debt financing to fund our operating and capital needs. In the event that financing is required from outside sources, we
may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, or if we cannot
expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on our business opportunities because we lack sufficient capital, our business, operating
results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2023, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $100 million of our common stock. Through September 30,
2024, we have purchased a total of 1.5 million shares for $64.9 million. In October 2024, our Board of Directors increased the repurchase
authorization by $200 million.

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

In July 2021, we entered into a credit agreement, or the Credit Agreement, which is comprised of a $375.0 million Term Loan and a
$50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility, with a $15.0 million letter of credit sublimit. The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 2.75% per
annum over SOFR, subject to a 0.50% floor, plus a credit spread adjustment depending on the interest period.

From January to September 2024, interest rates on our Term Loan have been between 8.11% and 8.22%. The Term Loan is being
amortized at 1% per annum in equal quarterly installments until the final payment of $350.6 million on the July 7, 2028 maturity date. We may
be subject to mandatory Term Loan prepayments related to the excess cash provisions in the Credit Agreement if our first lien net leverage
ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) exceeds 3.5. At September 30, 2024, our first lien net leverage ratio was 1.00.

The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a rate, depending on first lien net leverage, ranging from 2.00% to 2.50% over SOFR and
matures on July 7, 2026. We pay a commitment fee during the term ranging from 0.25% to 0.375% per annum of the average daily undrawn
portion of our Revolving Credit Facility. At September 30, 2024, we were in compliance with the covenants and had $0.2 million of standby
letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2024 2023
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 136,357  $ 111,350 
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (27,099) 19,619 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (31,744) 16,043 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,439) (2,562)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 75,075  $ 144,450 

Operating Activities

Our largest source of cash provided by operating activities is cash collections from sales of our products and services, as we typically
invoice our customers in advance. Our primary uses of cash are employee compensation costs, third-party cloud infrastructure and other
software subscription costs, demand generation expenditures and general corporate costs.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased by $46.7 million, primarily due to a $29.2 million increase in cash paid for acquisitions, an
$18.0 million net decrease in sales of short-term investments and a $1.2 million increase in capitalized software development costs, partially
offset by $3.5 million in proceeds from our SAFE investments in the nine months ended September 30, 2024.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities increased by $47.8 million, primarily due to the repurchase of common stock under our stock
repurchase program of $50.0 million, partially offset by a $2.4 million increase in proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Contractual Obligations

We have certain contractual obligations for future payments. Refer to Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for our required
operating lease payments and Note 9 for our required payments to Microsoft and AWS for cloud services.

At September 30, 2024, there were no other material changes in our contractual obligations and commitments from those disclosed in
our 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, as well as related disclosures. We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as described in our 10-K.

Item 3.        Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including interest rate, foreign currency exchange and inflation
risks.
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Interest Rate Risk

At September 30, 2024, we had $312.2 million of cash and cash equivalents, which consisted of cash deposits, money market funds and
U.S. treasury and agency securities. We also had $236.2 million of short-term investments, which consisted of commercial paper, asset
backed securities, U.S. treasury and agency securities and corporate and Yankee bonds. Our investments are carried at their fair market
values with cumulative unrealized gains or losses recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income within
stockholders' equity. The primary objectives of our investment activities are the preservation of capital, the fulfillment of liquidity needs and
the fiduciary control of cash and investments. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Interest-earning
instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk; however, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any of the periods presented
would not have had a material impact on our financial statements.

In July 2021, we entered into the Credit Agreement comprised of a $375.0 million Term Loan and a $50.0 million Revolving Credit
Facility. From January to September 2024, interest rates on our Term Loan have been between 8.11% and 8.22%. In October and November
2024, the Term Loan has an interest rate of 7.71% and 7.55%, respectively. A one percentage point increase in the rate would not have had
a material impact on our financial statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Substantially all of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, with a limited number of contracts denominated in foreign
currencies, including foreign denominated leases. A portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States, denominated
in foreign currencies and subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro, British
Pound, Australian dollar, Israeli New Shekel, Indian Rupee and Brazilian Real. Strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to other currencies
could result in lower international sales as our products would seem more expensive and could result in lower international operating costs
as the U.S. dollar is the functional currency for all of our international subsidiaries. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates may cause us to recognize remeasurement and transaction gains (losses) in our consolidated statements of operations. As the impact
of foreign currency exchange rates has not been material to our historical operating results, we have not entered into derivative or hedging
transactions, but we may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currencies becomes more significant.

Inflation Risk

While we do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition through
September 30, 2024, our costs, specifically employee-related and third-party cloud infrastructure costs, may become subject to significant
inflationary pressures, and our inability or failure to fully offset such higher costs could harm our business, results of operations, or financial
condition.

Item 4.        Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act ), as of the end of the period
covered by this Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that
at September 30, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information required
to be disclosed by us in this Form 10-Q was (a) reported
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within the time periods specified by SEC rules and regulations, and (b) communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding any required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d)
or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the period covered by this Form 10-Q that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Internal Controls

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In
addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is
required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance
level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting
will prevent all errors and all fraud.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.        Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. We are not presently a party to
any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. We have received, and may in the future continue to receive, claims from
third parties asserting, among other things, infringement of their intellectual property rights. Future litigation may be necessary to defend
ourselves, our partners and our customers by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third-party proprietary rights, or to establish
our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome,
litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors

Except for the risk factors disclosed below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A. "Risk
Factors" of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")
on February 28, 2024. Our business is subject to risks and events that, if they occur, could adversely affect our financial condition and results
of operations and trading price of our securities. In addition to the other information set forth in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider
the factors described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. We may disclose additional
changes to risk factors or disclose additional factors from time to time in our future filings with the SEC. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations.

Our brand, reputation and ability to attract, retain and serve our customers are dependent in part upon the reliability and
accuracy of our data, solutions, infrastructure and those of third parties upon which we rely. If our information technology systems
or data, or those of third parties upon which we rely, are or were compromised or disrupted, or if our solutions fail to detect
vulnerabilities or incorrectly detect vulnerabilities, or if they contain undetected errors or defects, we could experience adverse
consequences.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store, use, transmit, disclose or otherwise process proprietary, confidential, and
sensitive information, including personal data, intellectual property, and trade secrets.

We sell cybersecurity products and, as a result, may be at increased risk of being a target of cyberattacks designed to penetrate our
platform or internal systems, to compromise our data, alter or modify our source code, or to otherwise impede the performance of our
products. Threats to information systems and data come from a variety of sources. In addition to computer “hackers,” threat actors, personnel
(such as through theft or misuse), "hacktivists," organized criminal threat actors, sophisticated nation-states and nation-state-supported
actors now engage and are expected to continue to engage in cyber-attacks. Nation-state actors and nation-state-supported actors may
engage in such attacks for geopolitical reasons and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities, including the ongoing conflict
between Ukraine and Russia, the ongoing conflict in the Middle East, and rising tensions between China and Taiwan. During times of war
and other major conflicts, we, third parties upon which we may rely, and our customers may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these
threats, including retaliatory cyber-attacks that could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain, and ability to produce, sell
and distribute our goods and services. We, our customers, and the third parties upon which we rely are subject to a variety of evolving
threats, which are prevalent, continue to rise, and increasingly difficult to detect. These threats include but are not limited to: social-
engineering attacks (including through deep fakes, which may be increasingly more difficult to identify as fake, and phishing attacks);
credential harvesting; malicious code (such as viruses and worms); malware (including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions);
denial-of-service attacks, credential stuffing; personnel misconduct or error; ransomware attacks; supply-chain attacks; software bugs; server
malfunctions; software or hardware failures; loss of data or other information technology assets; adware; telecommunications failures; attacks
enhanced or facilitated by artificial intelligence and other similar threats. In particular, ransomware attacks, including those from organized
criminal threat actors, nation-states and nation-state supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can lead to
significant interruptions, delays, or outages in our operations, loss of data, loss of income, significant extra expenses to restore data or
systems, reputational
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loss and the diversion of funds. To alleviate the financial, operational and reputational impact of a ransomware attack, it may be necessary to
make extortion payments, but we may be unable to do so if, for example, applicable laws prohibit such payments.

Additionally, we are incorporated into the supply chain of a large number of companies worldwide and, as a result, if our solutions are
compromised, a significant number or, in some instances, all of our customers and their data could be simultaneously affected. The potential
liability and associated consequences we could suffer as a result of such a large-scale event could be catastrophic and result in irreparable
harm.

The increased prevalence of remote work and use of remote devices has increased risks to our information technology systems and
data, as more of our employees utilize network connections, computers and devices outside of our premises or network, including working at
home, while in transit and in public locations. Furthermore, future or past business transactions, such as acquisitions or integrations, could
expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in
acquired or integrated entities' systems and technologies. Furthermore, we may discover security issues that were not identified during due
diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to integrate other companies into our information technology
environment and security program.

We rely on third-party service providers and technologies to operate critical business systems, including processing confidential and
sensitive information, including, without limitation, cloud-based infrastructure, data center facilities, encryption and authentication technology,
employee email and other functions. We also rely on third-party service providers to provide other products, services, or otherwise, to
operate our business and elements of our infrastructure, including endpoints. Our ability to monitor these third parties' information security
practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information security measures in place. Additionally, software errors or
vulnerabilities in these third-party technologies could result in significant disruptions to our information technology systems, leading to
downtime, data loss, or compromised data integrity.

If our third-party service providers experience a security incident or other interruption or cause an extended outage or disruption to our
systems, we could experience adverse consequences. It is possible that our customers and potential customers would hold us accountable
for any security incident affecting our third-party service providers’ infrastructure or other interruption caused by our third-party service
providers that impacts our infrastructure. We may incur significant liability from those customers and from other third parties with respect to
any such incident. Because our agreements with certain third-party service providers, such as Amazon Web Services, or AWS, limit their
liability for damages, we may not be able to recover a material portion of our liabilities to our customers and third parties arising from issues
with such third-party service providers, such as AWS, in the event of an incident affecting the third parties’ systems. Moreover, while we may
be entitled to damages from other third-party service providers if they fail to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us or if they
cause a disruption in our infrastructure, any award may be insufficient to cover our damages, or we may be unable to recover such reward. In
addition, supply-chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity and there have been high-profile incidents of third-party service
providers causing widespread disruptions in their customers' infrastructures due to errors in their SaaS offerings, such as the Windows
outage caused by a flawed CrowdStrike software update that occurred in July of 2024. We cannot guarantee that third parties’ infrastructure
in our supply chain or our third-party partners’ supply chains have not been compromised or that errors by our third-party service providers
won’t cause disruptions in our infrastructure.

While we have implemented security and technology measures designed to protect against security incidents or other interruptions, there
can be no assurance that these measures will be effective. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, disruptions, outages,
and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, deliberate or unintentional human or software
defects and configuration errors (including by third parties), capacity constraints, fraud or security incidents. We take steps designed to
detect, mitigate and remediate vulnerabilities and defects and configuration errors in our information technology systems (such as our
hardware and software, including that of third parties upon which we rely) and in our software applications, products and services. We may
not, however, be able to detect and remediate all such vulnerabilities, defects or configuration errors on a timely basis. For example, we have
identified certain vulnerabilities in our information systems and software applications, and we take steps designed to mitigate the risks
associated with known vulnerabilities. Despite our efforts, there can be no assurance that these vulnerability, defect and configuration error
mitigation measures will be completely effective. Further,
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we may experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures and patches designed to address any such identified
vulnerabilities, defects or configuration errors.

Any of these or similar threats could cause a security incident or other interruption that can result in unauthorized, unlawful, or accidental
acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration, encryption, disclosure of, or access to our proprietary, confidential, and sensitive
information or our information technology systems, or those of the third parties upon whom we rely. A security incident or other interruption
could disrupt our ability (and that of third parties upon whom we rely) to provide our solutions. In some instances, we or our third-party
service providers may not be able to identify the cause or cause of these security incidents or performance problems within an acceptable
period of time. If our solutions are unavailable or if our customers are unable to access features of our solutions within a reasonable amount
of time or at all, our business could be adversely affected. In addition, if any of the third-party providers we use were to experience or cause a
significant or prolonged outage or security incident, our business could be adversely affected. We may expend significant resources or
modify our business activities to try to protect against security incidents. Certain data privacy and security obligations may require us to
implement and maintain specific security measures, industry-standard or reasonable security measures to protect our information technology
systems and proprietary, confidential, and sensitive information, including personal data.

Data protection requirements may also require us to notify relevant stakeholders of security incidents, including affected individuals,
partners, collaborators, customers, regulators, law enforcement agencies and others. Such disclosures are costly, and the disclosures or
failure to comply with such requirements could lead to adverse consequences.

Additionally, even if we have issued or otherwise made patches or information for vulnerabilities in our software applications, products or
services, our customers may be unwilling or unable to deploy such patches and use such information effectively and in a timely manner.
Vulnerabilities could be exploited and result in a security incident.

If we, our customers, or a third party upon which we rely, experience or cause a security incident or other interruption, or are perceived to
have experienced or caused a security incident or other interruption, we may experience adverse consequences, such as government
enforcement actions (for example, investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting obligations and/or oversight;
restrictions on processing information (including personal data); litigation (including class claims); indemnification obligations; negative
publicity; reputational harm; monetary fund diversions; interruptions of our operations (including availability of data); financial loss (including
by issuing credits to our customers); diversion of management attention; and other similar harm. Security incidents or other disruptions and
attendant consequences may cause customers to stop using our solutions (including by not renewing their purchases of our solutions), deter
new customers from using our solutions, and negatively impact our ability to grow and operate our business.

There can be no assurance that any limitations or exclusions of liabilities in our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would
otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages if we fail to comply with data protection requirements related to information security or
security incidents. We cannot be sure that our insurance coverage will be adequate or otherwise protect us from or adequately mitigate
liabilities or damages with respect to claims, costs, expenses, litigation, fines, penalties, business loss, data loss, regulatory actions or other
impacts arising out of security incidents.

In addition, we face unique risks as a SaaS company, particularly in light of our business model. If our solutions fail to detect
vulnerabilities in our customers’ cybersecurity infrastructure, including for remote devices, or if our solutions fail to identify new and
increasingly complex methods of cyberattacks, our business may suffer and our customers' businesses may be damaged, including by
interrupting their networking traffic or operational technology environments. There is no guarantee that our solutions will detect all
vulnerabilities or threats in our customers' systems, especially in light of the rapidly changing security landscape to which we must respond.
Additionally, our solutions may falsely detect vulnerabilities or threats that do not actually exist. For example, our solutions rely on information
provided by an active community of users who contribute information about new exploits, attacks and vulnerabilities. If the information from
these third parties is inaccurate, the potential for false indications of vulnerabilities or threats increases. These false positives, while typical in
the industry, may impair the perceived reliability of our offerings. Additionally, our business depends upon the appropriate and successful
implementation of our product by our customers. If our customers fail to use our solutions according to our specifications, our customers may
suffer a security incident on their own systems or other
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adverse consequences. Even if such an incident is unrelated to our security practices, it could result in our incurring significant economic and
operational costs in investigating, remediating, and implementing additional measures to further protect our customers from their own
vulnerabilities.

The reliability and continuous availability of our solutions is critical to our success. We have experienced errors or defects in the past in
connection with the release of new solutions and product upgrades, and we expect that these errors or defects will be found from time to time
in the future in new or enhanced solutions after commercial release. In addition, we use third parties to assist in the development of our
products and these third parties could be a source of errors or defects. Some defects may cause our solutions to be vulnerable to attacks,
cause them to fail to detect vulnerabilities, or temporarily interrupt customers’ networking traffic or operational technology environments, any
of which may damage our customers’ business and could hurt our reputation.

As a result of any of the risks associated with our SaaS business, we may experience adverse consequences. We may also be subject to
liability claims for damages related to errors or defects in our solutions.

We have incorporated and may in the future further incorporate generative and other types of artificial intelligence, or AI,
processes, algorithms, and technologies into certain of our products and services. This technology is new and developing, and
may generate output that is inaccurate or flawed or may not achieve market acceptance, which could result in operational,
financial, regulatory, and reputational harm and other adverse consequences to our business.

We have incorporated and may in the future further incorporate AI features in certain of our products and services, including ExposureAI
and Tenable AI Assistant. The use of generative AI processes at scale is relatively new, and may lead to challenges, concerns and risks that
are significant or that we may not be able to predict, especially if our use of these technologies in our products and services becomes more
important to our operations over time. The technologies underpinning these features are in the early stages of commercial use and exist in an
emerging regulatory environment, which presents regulatory, litigation, ethical, reputational, operational and financial risks. AI in our products
and services may be difficult to deploy successfully due to operational issues inherent to the nature of such technologies, including the
development, maintenance and operation of deep learning datasets. Additionally, if we do not have adequate rights to utilize the data or other
materials and content that our AI technologies depend on, we may face legal consequences for violating applicable laws, third-party
intellectual property, privacy or other rights, or contracts to which we are a party.

Uncertainty in the legal regulatory regime relating to AI and emerging ethical issues surrounding the use of AI may require significant
resources to modify and maintain business practices to comply with U.S. and non-U.S. laws, the nature of which cannot be determined at this
time. Existing laws and regulations may apply to us or our suppliers, vendors, partners and customers in new ways, and new laws and
regulations may be instituted. Many U.S. and international governmental bodies and regulators have proposed, or are in the process of
developing, new regulations related to the use of AI and machine learning technologies. For example, the European Union authorities
recently adopted a legal framework on AI regulation, the Artificial Intelligence Act (“AI Act”), which applies beyond the European Union’s
borders and establishes obligations for AI providers and those deploying AI systems. Other jurisdictions may adopt similar or potentially more
restrictive laws, which may render the use of such technologies challenging. The final form of these may impose obligations related to our
development, offering and use of AI technologies and expose us to increased risk of regulatory enforcement and litigation.

Our AI technology features may also generate output that is misleading, insecure, inaccurate, harmful or otherwise flawed. Our
customers or others may rely on or use such misleading, insecure, harmful or otherwise flawed content to their detriment, which may harm
our brand, reputation, business or customers, cause competitive harm or expose us to legal liability. For example, AI algorithms use machine
learning and predictive analytics which may be insufficient or of poor quality and reflect inherent biases and could lead to flawed, biased, and
inaccurate results. Deficient or inaccurate recommendations, forecasts, or analyses that generative AI applications assist in producing could
lead to customer rejection or skepticism of our products, affect our reputation or brand, and negatively affect our financial results. Further,
unauthorized use or misuse of AI by our employees or others may result in disclosure of confidential company and customer data,
reputational harm, privacy law violations and legal liability. Our use of generative AI may also lead to novel and urgent cybersecurity risks,
including related to personal data, which may adversely affect our operations and reputation.
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The nature of our business requires the application of complex accounting rules and regulations and public reporting and
corporate governance requirements. If there are significant changes in current principles, financial reporting standards,
interpretations or public reporting and corporate governance requirements, or if our estimates or judgments relating to our critical
accounting policies or reporting or governance requirements prove to be incorrect, we may experience unexpected financial
reporting fluctuations or increased compliance costs and strain on our resources and our results of operations could be adversely
affected.

The accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. In addition, many
companies’ accounting disclosures are being subjected to heightened scrutiny by regulators and the public. Further, the accounting rules and
regulations are continually changing in ways that could impact our financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances, as provided in the section of this report titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.” Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include the
determination of the estimated economic life of perpetual licenses for revenue recognition, the estimated period of benefit for deferred
commissions, useful lives of long-lived assets, the valuation of stock-based compensation, the incremental borrowing rate for operating
leases, and the valuation of deferred tax assets. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual
circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities
analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

As a public company, we are also subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing
requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market and other applicable securities rules and regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Compliance with these rules and regulations increases our legal and financial
compliance costs, makes some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increases demand on our systems and resources.

Additionally, we regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and SEC and applicable listing standard
requirements and review new pronouncements, drafts and interpretations thereof that are relevant to us. We might be required to change our
accounting policies, alter our operational policies and implement new or enhance existing systems, or we may be required to restate our
published financial statements, as a result of new standards or requirements, changes to existing standards or requirements and changes in
their interpretation. Such changes to existing standards or requirements or changes in their interpretation may have an adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial position and profit, or cause an adverse deviation from our revenue and operating profit target, which may
negatively impact our financial results. Additionally, we may incur substantial professional fees and expend significant management efforts,
and we may need to hire additional staff with the appropriate experience and compile systems and processes necessary to adopt these new
standards and disclosure or governance requirements.

For example, a number of climate disclosure regulations have been enacted, including the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive,
the State of California's climate disclosure legislation, and most recently the SEC's climate-related disclosure requirements. These rules may
require disclosure on climate-related risks, risk management, governance and targets, and may require the company to calculate and
disclose greenhouse gas emissions data and obtain assurance reports on these disclosures. Ongoing compliance with these regulations is
expected to be challenging and will heighten the compliance risks identified above. Additionally, our failure or perceived failure to comply with
these disclosure requirements could lead to regulatory investigations, litigation, reputational harm, and other adverse business
consequences.

In addition, in July 2023, the SEC adopted rules requiring the disclosure of information about a material cybersecurity incident on Form 8-
K within four business days of determining that the incident is material, unless the US Attorney General concludes that such a disclosure
would pose a substantial risk to national security or public safety. These rules

43



Table of Contents

also require disclosures describing the processes used to identify, assess and manage cybersecurity risks, management's role in assessing
and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats and the board of directors' role in overseeing cybersecurity risks.

We rely on our third-party channel partner network of distributors and resellers to generate a substantial amount of our
revenue.

Our success is dependent in part upon establishing and maintaining relationships with a variety of channel partners that we utilize to
extend our geographic reach and market penetration. We typically use a two-tiered,channel model whereby we sell our products and
services to our distributors, who in turn sell to our resellers, who then sell to our end users, who we call customers. We anticipate that we will
continue to rely on this two-tiered sales model in order to help facilitate sales of our offerings as part of larger purchases in the United States
and to grow our business internationally. In the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we derived 94% and 93%, respectively, of
our revenue from subscriptions and perpetual licenses sold through channel partners, and the percentage of revenue derived from channel
partners may continue to increase in future periods. Ingram Micro, Inc., a distributor, accounted for 34% and 36% of our revenue in the nine
months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 32% of our accounts receivable at September 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023. Our agreements with our channel partners, including our agreement with Ingram Micro, are non-exclusive and do not prohibit them
from working with our competitors or offering competing solutions, and some of our channel partners may have more established
relationships with our competitors. Similarly, our channel partners have no obligations to renew their agreements with us on commercially
reasonable terms or at all, and certain of the agreements governing these relationships may be terminated by either party at any time, with
no or limited notice. For example, our agreement with Ingram Micro allows Ingram Micro to terminate the agreement in their discretion upon
30 days’ written notice to us. If our channel partners choose to place greater emphasis on products of their own or those offered by our
competitors or as a result of an acquisition, competitive factors or other reasons do not continue to market and sell our solutions in an
effective manner or at all, our ability to grow our business and sell our solutions, particularly in key international markets, may be adversely
affected. In addition, our failure to recruit additional channel partners, or any reduction or delay in their sales of our solutions and professional
services, including as a result of economic uncertainty, legal or regulatory actions, such as government investigations or law enforcement
activities, impacting their business, or conflicts between channel sales and our direct sales and marketing activities may harm our results of
operations. Finally, even if we are successful, our relationships with channel partners may not result in greater customer usage of our
solutions and professional services or increased revenue.

Item 2.        Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Items 3, 4 and 5 are not applicable and have been omitted.
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Item 6.        Exhibits

The following is a list of Exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q:
Exhibit
Number Description Location

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tenable Holdings, Inc. Previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-38600) on July 30, 2018

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Tenable Holdings, Inc. Previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-38600) on November 15,
2023

4.1 Common Stock Certificate of Tenable Holdings, Inc. Previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-226002) on July
16, 2018

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

32.1* Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Furnished herewith

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable
taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 101.SCH, 101.CAL,
101.DEF, 101.LAB and 101.PRE)

________________

(*)    This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise
subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: November 5, 2024 By: /s/ Amit Yoran
Amit Yoran
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(On Behalf of the Registrant and as Principal Executive
Officer)

Date: November 5, 2024 By: /s/ Stephen A. Vintz
Stephen A. Vintz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Amit Yoran, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tenable Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2024 By: /s/ Amit Yoran
Amit Yoran
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen A. Vintz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tenable Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2024 By: /s/ Stephen A. Vintz
Stephen A. Vintz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies to the best of his or her knowledge that, pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tenable Holdings, Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended September
30, 2024 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and that information contained in such Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Tenable Holdings, Inc.

Date: November 5, 2024 By: /s/ Amit Yoran
Amit Yoran
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 5, 2024 By: /s/ Stephen A. Vintz
Stephen A. Vintz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)


